BEFORE THE
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION



Joseph D. Orach					:
							:
	v.						:		C-2013-2393163
							:
PPL Electric Utilities Corporation 			:



INITIAL DECISION SUSTAINING PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS 
AND DISMISSING COMPLAINT


Before 
David A. Salapa
Administrative Law Judge


INTRODUCTION


		A property owner filed a complaint against an electric utility alleging that the utility was acting unreasonably by attempting to remove vegetation located in its right of way on the owner’s property.  This decision dismisses the complaint because the Commission lacks subject matter jurisdiction over disputes involving real property rights.


HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDING


On November 7, 2013, Joseph D. Orach (Complainant) filed a complaint with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) against PPL Electric Utilities Corporation (Respondent).  The complaint alleges that the Respondent wished to remove vegetation from its right of way which crosses the Complainant’s property.  The complaint asserts that the Complainant objects to the Respondent removing the vegetation and spraying herbicides in its right of way.  The complaint requests that the Commission direct the Respondent to not remove the vegetation and cease spraying herbicide in the right of way.  The complaint also requests that the Commission direct the Respondent to vacate its existing right of way and negotiate a new right of way agreement.

The Respondent filed an answer with new matter and preliminary objections on December 9, 2013.  The answer admits that the Respondent has transmission facilities located on the Complainant’s property.  According to the answer, the Respondent’s facilities are located on the Complainant’s property pursuant to a valid and irrevocable right of way and easement.  Attached to the answer with new matter is a copy of the right of way and easement, marked as Appendix A.

The answer admits that the Respondent plans to remove vegetation within the right of way that crosses the Complainant’s property.  The answer contends that, pursuant to its right of way and easement, the Respondent has the right to control or remove any vegetation within its right of way.  The answer states that the North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) Standard FAC-003-1 is a mandatory standard with which the Respondent, as a transmission facility owner, must comply.  NERC Standard FAC-003-1 requires the Respondent, as a transmission facility owner, adopt and keep current a formal transmission vegetation management program that has been reviewed and approved by NERC.  

The answer alleges that the Respondent has complied with NERC Standard FAC-003-1 by adopting a vegetation management policy.  The Respondent’s vegetation management policy has been approved by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), according to the answer.  NERC Standard FAC-003-1 requires specified clearances between vegetation and transmission conductors.  The answer asserts that the Respondent must comply with this requirement and remove any vegetation that has the potential to encroach on the required conductor clearances, including the vegetation found within the right of way crossing the Complainant’s property. 

The answer states that the Respondent applies herbicides to its transmission line rights of way pursuant to its vegetation management policy.  The answer points out that the right of way and easement that crosses the Complainant’s property specifically authorizes the use of herbicides within the right of way.

The answer further states that the Respondent uses contractors who are licensed by the Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture as Certified Commercial Pesticide Applicators.  These contractors only apply herbicides that have been approved for use on utility rights of way by the United States Environmental Protection Agency, according to the answer. 

The answer argues that the Commission is not the proper forum for resolving property rights controversies.  The answer argues that the Complainant’s complaint requires interpretation of the Respondent’s right of way and easement and such interpretation is beyond the scope of the Commission’s authority.

The new matter reasserts that the Respondent has a valid, irrevocable and properly recorded right of way and easement over the Complainant’s property.  The Respondent operates and maintains transmission facilities within that right of way and easement.  The new matter asserts that the right of way across the Complainant’s property authorizes the Respondent to maintain its facilities, including vegetation maintenance.

The new matter argues that the Complainant’s claims in his complaint arise from a private property dispute and interpretation of the right of way and easement and are within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of Common Pleas.  The new matter concludes that the complaint should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.  The answer with new matter requests that the Commission dismiss the complaint.

The preliminary objections contend that the Commission lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter of the complaint.  The preliminary objections point out that the Commission lacks jurisdiction over claims concerning real property rights and interpretation of rights of way and easements.  The preliminary objections request that the Commission dismiss the complaint.

By notice dated December 30, 2013, the Commission notified the parties that it had assigned the case to me as motion judge.  As of the date of this decision, the Complainant has not filed an answer to either the Respondent’s new matter or its preliminary objections.  The preliminary objections are ready for decision.  For the reasons set forth below, I will sustain the preliminary objections and dismiss the complaint.


FINDINGS OF FACT

		1.	The Complainant in this case is Joseph Orach, who resides at 1028 Passer Road, Coopersburg, Bucks County.

		2.	The Respondent in this case is PPL Electric Utilities Corporation.

		3.	On November 7, 2013, the Complainant filed a complaint with the Commission against the Respondent.

		4.	The Respondent filed an answer with new matter on December 9, 2013.

		5.	On December 9, 2013, the Respondent filed preliminary objections.

		6.	The Complainant did not file an answer to either the new matter or the preliminary objections.

DISCUSSION

The Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure permit parties to file preliminary objections.  The grounds for preliminary objections are limited to those set forth in 52 Pa.Code § 5.101(a) as follows:

(1) Lack of Commission jurisdiction or improper service of the pleading initiating the proceeding.

(2) Failure of a pleading to conform to this chapter or the inclusion of scandalous or impertinent matter.

(3) Insufficient specificity of a pleading.

(4) Legal insufficiency of a pleading.

(5) Lack of capacity to sue, nonjoinder of a necessary party or misjoinder of a cause of action.

(6) Pendency of a prior proceeding or agreement for alternative dispute resolution.

Here, the Respondent’s preliminary objections assert lack of Commission jurisdiction pursuant to 52 Pa.Code § 5.101(a)(1).

Commission preliminary objection practice is analogous to Pennsylvania civil practice regarding preliminary objections.  Equitable Small Transportation Intervenors v. Equitable Gas Company, 1994 Pa. PUC LEXIS 69, Docket No. C‑00935435 (July 18, 1994).  A preliminary objection asserting lack of Commission jurisdiction pursuant to the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure is therefore analogous to preliminary objections allowed by Rule 1028 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Civil Procedure.

Preliminary objections in civil practice requesting dismissal of a pleading will be granted only where the right to relief is clearly warranted and free from doubt.  Interstate Traveller Services, Inc. v. Pa. Dept. of Environment Resources, 406 A.2d 1020 (Pa. 1979); Rivera v. Philadelphia Theological Seminary of St. Charles Borromeo, Inc., 595 A.2d 172 (Pa. Super. 1991).  The Commission follows this standard.  Montague v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 66 Pa. PUC 24 (1988).

The Commission may not rely upon the factual assertions of the moving party but must accept as true for purposes of disposing of the motion all well pleaded, material facts of the nonmoving party, as well as every inference from those facts.  County of Allegheny v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 490 A.2d 402 (Pa. 1985); Commonwealth of Pennsylvania v. Bell Telephone Co. of Pa., 551 A.2d 602 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1988).  The Commission must view the complaint in this case in the light most favorable to the Complainant and should dismiss the complaint only if it appears that the Complainant would not be entitled to relief under any circumstances as a matter of law.  Equitable Small Transportation Intervenors v. Equitable Gas Company, 1994 Pa PUC LEXIS 69, Docket No. C-00935435 (July 18, 1994).

The Commission regulation at 52 Pa.Code § 5.21(a) states that a person may file a formal complaint claiming violation of a statute that the Commission has jurisdiction to administer.  The regulation at 52 Pa.Code § 5.21(d) authorizes the Commission to dismiss a complaint if a hearing is not necessary and authorizes preliminary objections to be filed in response to a complaint.

The regulation at 52 Pa.Code § 5.101(a)(1) permits the filing of a preliminary objection to dismiss a pleading for lack of Commission jurisdiction.  The provision at 52 Pa.Code § 5.101(a)(1) serves judicial economy by avoiding a hearing where no factual dispute exists.  If no factual issue pertinent to the resolution of a case exists, a hearing is unnecessary.  66 Pa.C.S. § 703(a); Lehigh Valley Power Committee v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 563 A.2d 557 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1989); Lehigh Valley Power Committee v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 563 A.2d 548 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1989); S.M.E. Bessemer Cement, Inc. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 540 A.2d 1006 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1988); White Oak Borough Authority v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 103 A.2d 502 (Pa. Super. 1954).

Viewing the complaint in this case in the light most favorable to the Complainant, the Respondent wishes to control the vegetation growing in its right of way which crosses the Complainant’s property.  The Respondent intends to control this vegetation by either physically removing the vegetation or spraying herbicides on the vegetation.  The Complainant objects to the Respondent removing vegetation or spraying herbicide in its right of way.  The Complainant wants the Respondent to vacate its existing right of way and negotiate a new right of way agreement.

Accepting the facts alleged in the complaint as true for purposes of disposing of its preliminary objection, the Respondent alleges that the complaint raises issues that are outside the subject matter jurisdiction of the Commission.  I agree.

The Complainant apparently contends that the Commission should prohibit the Respondent’s vegetation management activities and requests that the Commission direct the Respondent to cease both physically removing the vegetation and spraying herbicides on the vegetation located within its right of way.  The Complainant is requesting that the Commission limit the activities that the Respondent can engage in within its right of way.  The Complainant is requesting that the Commission determine what activities the Respondent may engage in within its right of way, pursuant to its deed of easement.  The Commission has no jurisdiction to adjudicate real property issues such as what activities the Respondent can engage in within its right of way, pursuant to its deed of easement.  Such a determination is solely within the jurisdiction of the courts of the Commonwealth.

The Commission, as a creation of the General Assembly, has only the powers and authority granted to it by the General Assembly contained in the Public Utility Code.  Tod and Lisa Shedlosky v. Pennsylvania Electric Co., Docket No. C-20066937 (Order entered May 28, 2008); Feingold v. Bell Tel. Co. of Pa., 383 A.2d 791 (Pa. 1977).  The Commission must act within, and cannot exceed, its jurisdiction.  City of Pittsburgh v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n., 43 A.2d 348 (Pa Super. 1945).  Jurisdiction may not be conferred by the parties where none exists.  Roberts v. Martorano, 235 A.2d 602 (Pa. 1967).  Subject matter jurisdiction is a prerequisite to the exercise of power to decide a controversy.  Hughes v. Pennsylvania State Police, 619 A.2d 390 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1992)  alloc. denied 637 A.2d 293 (Pa. 1993).

The Commission has determined that it is not the proper forum for resolving property rights controversies.  Rather, such controversies are a matter for a court of general jurisdiction.  Anne E. Perrige v. Metropolitan Edison Co., Docket No. C-00004110 (Order entered July 3, 2003); Fiorillo v. PECO Energy Co., Docket No. C-00971088 (Order entered September 15, 1999).  In Fairview Water Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n., 502 A.2d 162 (Pa. 1985), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that the Commission does not have jurisdiction to determine the scope and validity of an easement.

In Boczar v. PPL Electric Utilities Corp., Docket No. C-20016332 (Order entered February 10, 2003), the complainant alleged that the utility was not authorized to place its poles, transformers and cable lines on his property.  The Commission stated that the utility produced right of way agreements for the facilities in question and concluded that it was without jurisdiction to determine property rights concerning these easements.  In Lou Amati/Amati Service Station v. West Penn Power Co. and Bell Atlantic Pennsylvania, Inc., Docket No. C‑00945842 (Order entered October 25, 1995), the Commission stated that real property issues, such as trespass and whether utility facilities were located pursuant to a valid easement are within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of Common Pleas.

While the Commission does not have jurisdiction to adjudicate real property disputes, the Commission does have jurisdiction over service disputes between public utilities operating in Pennsylvania and their customers.  The statute at 66 Pa.C.S. § 1501 governs any allegations of unreasonable or inadequate service.  Pursuant to 66 Pa.C.S. § 1501, the Commission has original jurisdiction over the reasonableness and adequacy of public utility service.  Elkin v. Bell Telephone Co., 372 A.2d 1203 (Pa. Super. 1977) aff’d 420 A.2d 371 (Pa. 1977); Behrend v. Bell Telephone Co., 243 A.2d 346 (Pa. 1968).  As a general proposition, neither the Public Utility Code nor the Commission’s regulations require public utilities to provide constantly flawless service.  The Public Utility Code at 66 Pa.C.S. § 1501 requires public utilities to provide reasonable and adequate, not perfect service. The statute at 66 Pa.C.S. § 1501 provides in part:

§ 1501 Character of service and facilities

Every public utility shall furnish and maintain adequate, efficient, safe, and reasonable service and facilities, and shall make all such repairs, changes, alterations, substitutions, extensions and improvements in or to such service and facilities as shall be necessary or proper for the accommodation, convenience, and safety of its patrons, employees, and the public…

The definition of service is broad.  The definition of service at 66 Pa.C.S. § 102 states in part as follows:

“Service.”  Used in its broadest and most inclusive sense, includes any and all acts done, rendered or performed, and any and all things furnished or supplied, and any and all facilities used, furnished or supplied by public utilities, or contract carriers by motor vehicle, in the performance of their duties under this part to their patrons, employees, other public utilities, and the public…

If the subject matter of the complaint does not fall within the definitions of service or facilities as set forth above, the complaint is a private dispute and not within the Commission’s jurisdiction.  Rovin v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n., 502 A.2d 785 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1986)(water fluoridation practices of a public utility are not within the Commission’s jurisdiction); see also, Country Place Waste Treatment Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n., 654 A.2d 72 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1995) (control of odors emanating from a sewage treatment plant operated by a public utility not within the Commission’s jurisdiction); West Penn Power Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n., 578 A.2d 75 (Pa. Cmwlth 1990) (“the definition of ‘service’ is sufficiently broad enough to encompass a utility’s vegetation clearance practices in its right-of-ways.”).  Therefore, it would appear that the Commission does have jurisdiction to determine whether the Respondent’s conduct in this case constitutes unreasonable service.

Consistent with this jurisdiction, the Commission has developed regulations governing vegetation clearance or management as part of its inspection and maintenance standards for electric utilities.  In developing its inspection and maintenance standards for electric utilities at 52 Pa.Code § 57.198, the Commission addressed vegetation management.  These regulations at 52 Pa.Code § 57.198 require an electric utility to submit a plan every two years for the periodic inspection, maintenance, repair and replacement of its facilities.  The regulation at 52 Pa.Code § 57.198(f) requires the plan to include a program for the maintenance of clearances of vegetation from the electric utilities’ overhead distribution facilities.

However, the Commission did not promulgate regulations regarding transmission lines such as those that cross the Complainant’s property.  In the order promulgating the inspection and maintenance standards at 52 Pa.Code § 57.198, the Commission declined to adopt mandatory vegetation management standards for transmission lines but determined to monitor development of vegetation management standards for transmission lines by NERC and FERC.  Inspection and Maintenance Standards for Electric Distribution Companies, 38 Pa.B. 5273.  (September 27, 2008).

Deferring to NERC and FERC with regard to vegetation management is consistent with the federal statute at 16 U.S.C. § 824o(i)(3) governing electric reliability.  That statue provides that states may take action to ensure the safety, adequacy and reliability of electric service within that state as long as such action is not inconsistent with federal reliability standards.  The purpose of the Commission’s regulations at 52 Pa.Code § 57.198, as well as the NERC and FERC standards, is to require electric utilities, like the Respondent, to take proactive measures to minimize service interruptions.

The Respondent’s answer states that it must comply with NERC and FERC standards governing how close vegetation may grow to transmission lines.  The Commission has determined that it would defer to NERC and FERC with regard to development of vegetation management standards for transmission lines.  Therefore, the Respondent’s vegetation management guidelines, whose purpose is to ensure the Respondent’s compliance with NERC Standard FAC-003-1, govern the Respondent’s conduct with regard to vegetation management within its right of way on the Complainant’s property.  As set forth in the Respondent’s answer, the Respondent is complying with these guidelines by attempting to remove vegetation from its right of way on the Complainant’s property.

[bookmark: _GoBack]The Respondent’s attempt to comply with NERC standards in this case is reasonable.  The Commission is prohibited from determining that the NERC and FERC standards are unreasonable by 16 U.S.C. § 824o(i)(3).  If the Commission were to determine that the NERC and FERC standards were unreasonable, it would be taking an action which is inconsistent with federal reliability standards.  Such a determination by the Commission would violate the statue at 16 U.S.C. § 824o(i)(3), which only authorizes states to take action to ensure the safety, adequacy and reliability of electric service within that state as long as such action is not inconsistent with federal reliability standards.
  
In this case, the assuming all the facts alleged in the complaint are true, the Commission cannot make a finding that the Respondent’s conduct is unreasonable, since the Respondent is complying with NERC and FERC standards in attempting to remove the vegetation.  The Commission cannot determine that the NERC standards are unreasonable or that that the application of the NERC standards in this case is unreasonable without violating 16 U.S.C. § 824o(i)(3).

Accepting as true all the facts alleged in the complaint, the Complainant is not entitled to relief as a matter of law.  The dispute alleged in the complaint is whether the Respondent may remove vegetation and spray herbicide within its right of way pursuant to its deed of easement.  As set forth above, the Commission lacks subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate real property disputes.  Since the Commission’s jurisdiction does not extend to adjudicating real property disputes, I will sustain the preliminary objections and enter the following order.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.	The Commission lacks jurisdiction to resolve property rights controversies.  Anne E. Perrige v. Metropolitan Edison Co., Docket No. C-00004110 (Order entered July 3, 2003).

2.	The Commission has declined to adopt mandatory vegetation management standards for transmission lines but determined to monitor development of vegetation management standards for transmission lines by NERC and FERC.  Inspection and Maintenance Standards for Electric Distribution Companies, 38 Pa.B. 5273.  (September 27, 2008).

3.	States may take action to ensure the safety, adequacy and reliability of electric service within that state as long as such action is not inconsistent with federal reliability standards.  16 U.S.C. § 824o(i)(3).


		4.	It is just, reasonable and in the public interest that the complaint filed at Docket No. C-2013-2393163 be dismissed.

ORDER


		THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

		1.	That the preliminary objections filed by PPL Electric Utilities Corporation at Docket No. C-2013-2393163 are sustained.

		2.	That the complaint of Joseph D. Orach at Docket No. C-2013-2393163 against PPL Electric Utilities Corporation is dismissed with prejudice for lack of jurisdiction.

		3.	That the case at Docket No. C-2013-2393163 is marked closed.


Date:	January 7, 2014				___________/s/___________________
		David A. Salapa
		Administrative Law Judge
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